Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-22-2017

Idaho First Bank v. Bridges Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44532

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a collection action against defaulted borrowers under a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust involving unique circumstances arising under the vagaries of Idaho Department of Lands state lease property. Appellant Idaho First appeals from the District Court's decision on summary judgment that it was required to follow the dictates of I.C. § 45-1503(1), as if Defendants had a real property interest in their leasehold improvements, which their lease defined as personal property and which Idaho First could not hold under Idaho law. After a sale of those improvements, the District Court granted Idaho First leave to file a Second Amended Complaint seeking the remaining deficiency, but erred in finding the time limitations of I.C. § 45-1512 applied and in not allowing relation back under I.R.C.P. 15(d) or 15(c) to the date of the original collection complaint.

B. Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Defendants Maj-le Bridges and Harold Bridges are practicing attorneys in California with knowledge of real estate law. R., p. 70, ¶ 2; R., p. 80, ¶ 2. From October 3, 2005, through September 15, 2015, Defendants had a leasehold interest in property located at 2087 John Alden Road, McCall, Idaho ("the Property"). R., p. 72, ¶ 3; R., p. 81, ¶ 3. The Property has 72 feet of frontage on Payette Lake. *Id.* The Lessor was the Idaho Department of Lands, as agent for the owner, the State of Idaho. *Id.* Defendants originally obtained an assignment of an existing lease from October 3, 2005 through December 31, 2011 ("the Assigned Lease"). R., p. 89-90.

Defendants then entered into a two-year lease with the Idaho Department of Lands. R., p. 487, ¶ 15; R., p. 510, ¶ 3. They then entered into another lease beginning on January 1, 2014, and expiring on December 31, 2022 ("the 2014 Lease"). R., p. 396-419.

On September 21, 2006, Defendants obtained a loan from Plaintiff Idaho First Bank ("Idaho First") for \$1,500,000.00 pursuant to a Promissory Note. R., p. 11-12; R., p. 73, ¶ 9; R., p. 82, ¶ 9. The Promissory Note was secured by a Construction Deed of Trust. R., p. 108-117. Defendants constructed an approximately 5,000 square foot structure constructed on the Property. R., p. 83, ¶ 13. This original Promissory Note and Construction Deed of Trust are referred to as the "First Loan Transaction."

To complete construction, on January 3, 2008, Defendants requested a second loan from Idaho First for \$150,000.00. This second loan was made pursuant to a Credit Agreement and Disclosure (R., p. 871-876) and a second Deed of Trust encumbering different real property Defendants owned in Ada County, Idaho. R., p. 878-886. This indebtedness and documents are referred to as the "Second Loan Transaction."

On May 29, 2015, just before a lease payment was due to the Idaho Department of Lands, Defendants notified Idaho First through their counsel that Defendants were "unable to continue to service the [First] loan as presently structured." R., p. 58. Defendants wanted "to mitigate any adverse consequences to [Idaho First] and any potential for a claim for deficiency by the Bank against them." *Id.* Defendants stated they were "prepared to immediately assign all their respective rights and interest and two important elements associated with the cabin, namely the

lease with the Idaho Department of Lands" and an encroachment permit. R., p. 59. Defendants' counsel further explained:

Formally assigning the rights to the Bank will require an assignment of the encroachment permit and an assignment of the IDOL lease for the cabin site. We will prepare the appropriate assignment documents for the encroachment permit and the cabin lease, at the Bridges' expense, and pay the associated assignment fees (but not the lease payments) as soon as the Bank advises me of the name of the entity the Bank wants to use for the assignment. The name of the assignee has been left open because it's been my experience that many banks do not want to take an assignment of a lease, encroachment or similar rights, or even foreclose on a property, in the name of the bank that's the actual creditor.

Id. (emphasis added).

Defendants' counsel advised Idaho First "that the Bridges [were] prepared to execute and deliver to the Bank the appropriate and suitable form of deed in lieu of foreclosure and waiver of deficiency." R., p. 59. On June 1, 2015, Idaho First's counsel received two keys and two garage door openers for the structure. R., p. 21, ¶ 3.

One difficulty with Defendants' proposed course of action, as Defendants' counsel's letter seems to acknowledge, was that, as a corporation, Idaho First could not take an assignment of Defendants' lease with the Idaho Department of Lands. R., p. 295, ¶ 3. Section E.1.1.f. of the 2014 Lease provides that "[a]n assignment of this Lease shall be limited to natural persons." R., p. 404. This Lease provision follows IDAPA 20.03.13.02:

Assignments: A lease may only be assigned to an individual or to a husband or wife. The Board will not recognize assignments to corporations, partnerships, or companies. Leases may be assigned to and held by an estate only if one (1) individual or husband or wife are designated as the sole contact for all billing and correspondence. A lessee may only hold one (1) cottage site lease at a time.

Accordingly, Idaho First could not accept an assignment of Defendants' leasehold interest.

Further, the 2014 Lease defined Defendants' structure and improvements on the Property as "Personal Property." The 2014 Lease defines "Personal Property" in Section A.1.1.i. as "all buildings, structures, additions or developments belonging to LESSEE that have been erected upon, affixed or attached to, the Leased Premises. . . . " R., p. 400 (capitalization in original). Under Section E.1.3.a. of the 2014 Lease, a Leasehold Mortgage can "only encumber LESSEE's leasehold interest in this Lease and/or LESSEE's interest in any Personal Property owned by LESSEE " R., p. 404.

A complete section of the 2014 Lease, Section K, Personal Property, is devoted to defining Defendants' rights regarding what is specifically designated as Personal Property. R., p. 407-411. Section K.1.4.a. states that, upon default by the Lessee, Lessor may require Lessee to remove "all Personal Property" and require Lessee to "Restore the Leased Premises at Lessee's sole cost and expense." R., p. 408. Similarly, upon abandonment by Lessee under Section K.1.4.e., abandoned Personal Property may be removed by Lessor at Lessee's sole cost and expense." R., p. 410.

These 2014 Lease provisions were not brand new surprises. The Assigned Lease had declared at Section K.1.4.a that upon default by Lessee, "LESSOR may remove such approved...improvements and charge the cost of removal and restoration to the LESSEE" or require the Lessee to do so. R., p. 98. Similarly, upon abandonment under Section K.1.4.f., such abandoned improvements placed on the land by the lessee "shall be removed" by the Lessor at Lessee's cost and expense. *Id.* Upon expiration of a lease under Section K.1.4.e., Lessor has the

right to require Lessee to remove all approved improvements on the leased premises and to require Lessee to "restore the leased premises to as nearly as is reasonably practical to its natural condition, all at Lessee's sole cost and expense." *Id*.

Consistent with these provisions, in conversations with Idaho State Department of Land personnel Idaho First executives knew that, even though Defendants had abandoned the Property, Idaho First could not hold Defendants' leasehold rights. R., p. 789, ¶ 3-4. Further, just as the 2014 Lease mandated, the Department of Lands considered the improvements to be personal property that the Department would demolish in order to restore the site to its original condition, if a lease terminated. *Id.*; R., p. 790, ¶ 5. These requirements were fully consistent with the 2014 Lease's provisions concerning both default and abandonment.

Accordingly, in order to prevent threatened waste as to the collateral, Idaho First made Defendants' lease payment in June 2016. R., p. 511, ¶ 8. On June 19, 2015, Idaho First brought this action directly against Defendants for all amounts due under the Promissory Note (R., p. 363-64, ¶ 6-10). Defendants moved to dismiss. Defendants claimed that, despite the "personal property" language of the 2014 lease and the legal position taken by the Idaho Department of Lands, they were entitled to invoke I.C. § 45-1503, alleging Idaho First could and must first foreclose upon a real property interest before suing to collect the debt. R., p. 378-380. Ultimately, a sale of Defendants' leasehold interest and structure was consummated before the District Court ruled on Defendants' motion to dismiss.

On August 25, 2015, Defendants signed an "instrument assignment," which assigned Defendants' rights in the 2014 Lease to the purchasers of the structure. R., p. 512, ¶ 12. The

sale of the structure closed on September 15, 2015. *Id.* The sale price did not extinguish Defendants' entire indebtedness to Idaho First. Idaho First calculated that a \$344,377.25 deficiency remained. R., p. 489, ¶ 31. Idaho First filed a Second Amended Complaint against Defendants seeking this deficiency. R., p. 38-45.

Defendants moved for summary judgment. On April 27, 2016, the District Court granted summary judgment to Defendants. R., p. 278-293. The District Court's main finding was that, despite the clear language of the 2014 Lease defining improvements as personal property, Idaho First was required to follow I.C. § 45-1503(1), as if Defendants had a real property interest in their improvements. Further, the District Court held that Idaho First's deficiency claim did not relate back to the date of its original filing because it "did not arise out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence" set forth in its original complaint. R., p. 286. The District Court entered Judgment for Defendants and dismissed the Second Amended Complaint. R., p. 351. Idaho First moved the District Court to reconsider, but the District Court denied that motion. R., p. 325-328. Idaho First timely appealed to this Court.

Subsequently, Defendants sought the District Court's intervention in an arbitration filed by Idaho First regarding the Ada County real property related to the Second Loan Transaction.

The District Court's refusal to stay the arbitration forms the subject of Defendants' cross-appeal and Idaho First will defer discussion until its responds as Cross-Respondent.

C. Summary of Argument on Appeal

Idaho First argues that the District Court erred as a matter of law by concluding that I.C. § 45-1503(1) applied to the Idaho Department of Lands 2014 Lease with Defendants. Idaho First

could not assume or be assigned Defendants' leasehold in the Property and Defendants' improvements were properly and legally characterized as personal property, rather than real property as defined by I.C. § 45-1502(5). Thus, the time limitations set forth as to real property interests in I.C. § 45-1512 did not apply.

Even if Defendants' interests in their improvements could be characterized as a real property interest under § 45-1502(5) and the time limitation for a deficiency action set forth in I.C. § 45-1512 applied, Idaho First's deficiency claim arose from the same "conduct, transaction, or occurrence" as its original complaint seeking payment pursuant to the Promissory Note.

Accordingly, under I.R.C.P. 15(d) or alternatively 15(c), Idaho First's Second Amended

Complaint should relate back to the date of its original filing.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the District Court commit reversible error as a matter of law in its interpretation, construction and application of I.C. § 45-1503 and its conclusion that, despite unambiguous lease language to the contrary, Defendants' interest in their improvements on state lease land was a real property interest subject to the statute?
- 2. Did the District Court commit reversible error as a matter of law in its interpretation, construction and application of I.R.C.P. 15(d) and/or 15(c) and its conclusion that Idaho First's deficiency claim did not relate back to its original collection complaint?

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court recently stated the standard of review in cases involving summary judgment: In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court's standard of review is the same as the district court's standard in ruling upon a motion. *Thomson v*.

Lewiston, 137 Idaho 473, 475-76, 58 P.3d 488, 490-91 (2002). "The [district] court must grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(a). Courts will consider "pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any." Kiebert v. Goss, 144 Idaho 225, 227, 159 P.3d 862, 864 (2007) (internal citations omitted). In making that determination, all facts are construed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. Parks v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Illinois, 160 Idaho 556, 561, 376 P.3d 760, 765 (2016). If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law remains, over which this Court exercises free review. Kiebert, 144 Idaho at 227, 159 P.3d at 864.

Harmon v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., No. 43802, 2017 Ida. LEXIS 127, at *8 (May 11, 2017). Idaho First submits that this Court may exercise free review over the questions of law presented in this appeal.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN OVERRIDING THE CLEAR LANGUAGE OF THE 2014 LEASE TO CHARACTERIZE DEFENDANTS' INTEREST IN THEIR IMPROVEMENTS AS REAL PROPERTY.
 - 1. By contract or agreement, Parties may determine the nature of improvements.

As noted above, the plain language of the 2014 Lease defined "all buildings, structures, additions or developments belonging to LESSEE that have been erected upon, affixed or attached to, the Leased Premises" as "Personal Property." R., p. 400 (Section A.1.1.i.). The District Court ruled, however, that I.C. § 55-101(2) trumped the lease language, at least between Defendants and Idaho First, because Defendants' improvements were "affixed to land" and thus "real property." R., p. 347. The District Court also cited the three-part test for whether an article

is affixed to land as set forth in *Spencer v. Jameson*, 147 Idaho 497, 502, 211 P.3d 106, 111 (2009), namely "(1) Actual or constructive annexation to the realty; (2) Appropriation to the use of that part of the realty to which it is connected; [and] (3) Intention of the party so annexing to make the article a permanent accession to the realty." *Id*.

What the District Court failed to consider, however, is the language of the precedent upon which this Court relied in *Spencer v. Jameson. Spencer* cited *Prudente v. Nechanicky*, 84 Idaho 42, 367 P.2d 568 (1961) as authority for the three-part test. In turn, *Prudente* relied on *Boise-Payette Lumber Co. v. McCornick*, 32 Idaho 462, 186 P. 252 (1919). In describing the third "intent" prong of the test, the Court stated:

Except in cases where, by contract or agreement, the intention of the party who made the annexation determines the character of the article or machine as to whether it is a chattel or a fixture, the inquiry is not strictly as to the intention of the person himself who annexed the chattel to the freehold. Thus, in the case at bar the contest is between an attaching creditor and a mortgagee. Neither party was bound by the intention existing in the mind of the owner. The inquiry is as to what intention must be imputed to him in the light of all the circumstances, when tested by the common understanding of those familiar with the subject.

(emphasis added)

32 Idaho at 468, 186 P. at 253. Thus, one looks to the entirety of circumstances to divine intent, unless that intent has already been resolved by contract or agreement. Here, we have just such a situation. The multiple leases signed by Defendants already determined the nature of the structure annexed to the real property – as something that could not be a "permanent accession to the realty" given the State's reserved right to remove it upon default, abandonment or termination of the lease. The District Court erroneously focused solely on Defendants' current

expressions of subjective intent¹ rather than the lease language or the totality of circumstances, even deeming the express lease language to give rise to nothing more than a "mere theoretical possibility of removal." R., p. 348.

The freedom of contract to deem an improvement as real or personal property found in *McCornick, supra*, is recognized in other jurisdictions as well.² For instance, in *Bank of Valley v. United States Nat'l Bank,* 215 Neb. 912, 341 N.W.2d 592 (1983), a residence was built on leased land. Two banks had competing security interests in the home. A declaratory judgment action was brought to decide which bank had a priority security interest in the home. Priority depended on whether the home was a "fixture" or "personal property." A fixture filing had to be filed with the Register of Deeds. On the other hand, the proper place for filing financing statement granting a security interest in personal property was in the Office of the County Clerk. *Bank of Valley* filed with the County Clerk in February 1978. In February 1981, U.S. National Bank filed a financing statement with the county register. *Bank of Valley* argued that the house was personal property because the lease provided for the removal of improvements. The trial court ruled that the house was a fixture and that filing with the register of deeds was proper, which gave U.S. National Bank priority. 215 Neb. at 913-14, 341 N.W.2d. at 594 (1983).

Citing Defendants' self-serving affidavit testimony, the District Court stated "they intended the cottage to be a permanent part of the leased property." R., p. 347.

For a detailed analysis, see ARTICLE: GROPING ALONG BETWEEN THINGS REAL AND THINGS PERSONAL: DEFINING FIXTURES IN LAW AND POLICY IN THE UCC, 78 U. Cin. L. Rev. 1437 (2010).

The Nebraska Supreme Court reversed and remanded, holding that the home was not a fixture. The Court analyzed the character of the collateral as follows:

In determining whether a thing has become a fixture, the following factors are considered: 1st. Actual annexation to the realty, or something appurtenant thereto. 2d. Appropriation to the use or purpose of that part of the realty with which it is connected. 3d. The intention of the party making the annexation to make the article a permanent accession to the freehold. This intention being inferred from the nature of the articles affixed, the relation and situation of the party making the annexation, the structure and mode of annexation, and the purpose or use for which the annexation has been made.' [Citation omitted.] The third test, namely that of 'intention,' appears by the clear weight of modern authority to be the controlling consideration." [Citation omitted.]" T-V *Transmission v. County Bd. of Equal.*, 215 Neb. 363, 366, 338 N.W.2d 752, 754 (1983). "'Of these three tests, the clear tendency of modern authority seems to be to give preeminence to the question of intention to make the article a permanent accession to the freehold, and the others (the first and second statements) seem to derive their chief value as evidence of such intention." *Bemis v. First National Bank*, 63 Ark. 625, 629, 40 S.W. 127, 128 (1897).

The intention of the parties may be made manifest by an agreement between the parties. "Even 'fixtures' are not real estate when understood by the parties involved to be personal property." *Gilman v. Northern States Power Co.*, 242 Wis. 130, 136, 7 N.W.2d 606, 609 (1943).

"'Ordinarily a building placed upon land is a fixture, becomes part of the real estate and passes with it; but the buildings may be personal property under some circumstances. Parties are at liberty to make any agreement or arrangement with regard to their property, to dwelling houses or any other property that they see fit, and if the agreement is such a one as will make the property personal property, as between those parties it is personal property, and may be so treated.'

"... 'The parties concerned may, by agreement in due form, give to fixtures the legal character of realty or personalty at their option, and the law will respect and enforce their understandings'" *Nathan Myrick v. Rose A. Bill, et al.*, 3 Dakota 284, 287-88, 17 N.W. 268, 269 (1883).

215 Neb. at 914-916, 341 N.W.2d at 594-595. See also, Cone v. W. Trust & Sav. Bank, 21 Cal.

App. 2d 176, 179, 68 P.2d 981, 983 (1937) ("... an agreement that property shall "retain its

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