#### **Uldaho Law**

### Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-18-2017

## Idaho First Bank v. Bridges Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44532

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal arising out a lender's <u>untimely</u> attempt to obtain a deficiency judgment on a promissory note after sale of the real property collateral. The debtors obtained a 2006 loan to build a cottage<sup>1</sup> on state-lease land near Payette Lake. The loan went into default and the lender sold the real property collateral. The lender claimed it was still owed additional amounts on the underlying promissory note and filed a complaint seeking a deficiency judgment. The new complaint, however, was untimely, per the three month deadline in I.C. § 45-1512, and the District Court granted summary judgment dismissing with prejudice the lender's deficiency action. The lender brings an appeal of that dismissal judgment, arguing that its untimely lawsuit seeking a deficiency judgment can be saved by the relation back doctrine found in IRCP 12.

This cross-appeal arises out of the lender's subsequent attempt to foreclose a different deed of trust on a different property to try and recover the <u>same</u> alleged deficiency that had already been barred by § 45-1512 and the District Court. The debtors had a second loan with the lender (from 2008) and that loan was secured by a deed of trust on the debtors' residence in Boise. That deed of trust on the Boise residence had a cross-collateralization provision stating that the Boise residence also secured any other amounts owed by the debtors to the lender. After losing (and appealing) its deficiency action for the 2006 loan, the lender commenced an arbitration proceeding to foreclose on the Boise residence in order to recover the same claimed deficiency on the 2006 loan that had already been barred. The debtors asked the District Court to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The District Court referred to the Cottage as a "cottage," so the Bridges will use that terminology as well.

block this effort to recover a claimed deficiency that had already been barred by the District Court as untimely under § 45-1512. The district court declined, leaving the issue for resolution by the arbitrator. The arbitrator, in turn, deferred to this Court for resolving the issue before him. The debtors bring this cross-appeal asking this Court to find that the judgment dismissing a deficiency action under § 45-1512 bars any further attempts to recover the claimed deficiency through any other collateral.

#### B. Statement of Facts.

#### 1. The Cottage Loan and Default on the Cottage Note.

Harold and Maj-le Bridges (the "Bridges") obtained a \$1.5 million construction loan in 2006 ("Cottage Note") from Idaho First Bank ("IFB") to construct their cottage on Payette Lake on land owned by the State of Idaho and leased to the Bridges. (R, pp. 373-374, 382-83.) The cottage and state lease were collateral for the Cottage Note, pursuant to a Construction Deed of Trust ("Cottage DofT"):

For valuable consideration, Grantor does hereby irrevocably grant, bargain, sell and convey in trust, with power of sale, to Trustee for the benefit of Lender as Beneficiary, all of Grantor's right, title, and interest in, to and under the Lease described below of the following described real property, together with all existing or subsequently erected or affixed buildings, improvements and fixtures . . . .

(R, pp. 382-83, 386-95.) The Bridges built a cottage that was approximately 5,000 square feet and intended it to be a permanent structure, with a cement foundation and a design and features specifically chosen to match the lake-front Property. (R, pp. 544-51.)

In 2015, the Bridges defaulted on the Cottage Note, no longer able to afford the loan payments. (*Id.*) Under Idaho law, before it could "institute a judicial action" against the Bridges

on the Cottage Note, IFB was required to sell the cottage and lease collateral to pay down the Bridges' Cottage Note. See I.C. § 45-1503.

## 2. IFB's Improper Lawsuit Seeking a Money Judgment Without First Foreclosing the Real Property Collateral.

Instead, on June 19, 2015, IFB sued the Bridges seeking a personal judgment for the entire amount outstanding on the Cottage Note without seeking to foreclose on the Cottage DofT. (R, pp. 362-65.) The Bridges tried to convince IFB to voluntarily withdraw the Complaint and comply with I.C. § 45-1503, but IFB refused. (R, pp. 549-50, 770-71.) The Bridges filed a short motion to dismiss, pointing out that the lawsuit had been filed in violation of Idaho's security first/one-action rule in § 45-1503. (R, pp. 377-380.) IFB opposed the motion to dismiss, arguing that its lawsuit seeking a personal judgment, prior to foreclosure sale of the real property collateral, was proper. (R, p. 478.) IFB surprisingly claimed that the cottage and lease was personal property and not real property and therefore not subject to § 45-1503. (*Id.*)

# 3. Sale of the Real Property Collateral and the Untimely Deficiency Action Precluded By Idaho Statute.

Before the motion to dismiss was resolved, IFB sold the collateral for approximately \$1.2 million. (R, pp. 489.) Two bidders had offered \$1.2 million for the cottage and lease. (*Id.*) The sale closed on September 15, 2015. (*Id.*) With the sale of the collateral, the Bridges were preparing for a dispute about whether a deficiency existed and, if so, in what amount.

On December 18, 2015, IFB filed a pleading entitled "Second Amended Complaint" (the "Deficiency Complaint"). (R, pp. 485-92.) This Deficiency Complaint admitted that the underlying cottage and lease were sold on September 15, 2015. (R, p. 489.) The Deficiency

Complaint alleged a deficiency owed of \$344,377.24 after the sale of the collateral. (R, pp. 490-91.) The Deficiency Complaint alleged two causes of action: (1) a "Claim For Deficiency Under Idaho Code § 28-9-615," which continued IFB's unusual argument that a cottage and lease are personal property rather than real property, and (2) a "Claim For Deficiency Under Idaho Code § 45-1512." (*Id.*)

# 4. Memorandum Decision and Judgment Dismissing the Deficiency Action With Prejudice.

On January 21, 2016, the Bridges filed a motion for summary judgment because the Deficiency Complaint was untimely by three days (three months from sale of the collateral was December 15, 2015, but the Deficiency Complaint was not filed until December 18, 2015). (R, pp. 519-33.) The Bridges argued that IFB was now statutorily barred from claiming any deficiency was owed: "The Bridges ask the Court to find, as a matter of law, that IFB's deficiency action ... was untimely filed and thus IFB is <u>forever barred</u> from seeking any deficiency on the Note, pursuant to Idaho Code § 45-1512." (R, p. 530, emphasis added.)

IFB opposed dismissal with prejudice by raising two arguments: (1) its untimely action was saved by the relation back doctrine under IRCP 15 and its initial Complaint and/or First Amended Complaint filed June 19 and July 10, 2015, respectively; and (2) the collateral was personal property so Section 45-1512's three month deadline was inapplicable. (R, pp. 775, 779.)

Ultimately, the District Court agreed with the Bridges that the tardy Deficiency Complaint had to be dismissed with prejudice. The District Court gave three different reasons for rejecting the "relation back" argument:

A. Idaho First Bank's deficiency claim under I.C. § 45-1512 is time barred.

. . .

First, Idaho First Bank's deficiency claim simply did not arise out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in its original and first amended complaints. To be sure, the original and first amended complaints involved attempts to collect on the same loan involved in the section 45-1512 claim. But there ends the relationship between the second amended complaint and the prior complaints. The prior complaints did not mention the deed-of-trust collateral. They neither asserted nor attempted to assert a deficiency claim (under section 45-1512 or otherwise). Presumably that is because a prerequisite to asserting such a claim—the sale of the deed-of-trust collateral had not yet occurred. The deed-of-trust collateral was not sold until September 15, 2015, which is long after the prior complaints were filed. The section 45-1512 claim arose out of the sale of the deed-of-trust collateral for less than the loan's balance, not out of the Bridges' loan default. Indeed, had everything else been the same but the sale proceeds equaled or exceeded the loan balance, no deficiency claim would have ever arisen, despite the Bridges' loan default. As such, it is incorrect to view the deficiency claim as having arisen out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in Idaho First Bank's original and first amended complaints.

Second, and relatedly, relation-back is inappropriate because the deficiency claim under section 45-1512 had not even accrued when the prior complaints were filed. Such a claim does not accrue until the deed-of-trust collateral is sold, as no deficiency either exists or is calculable before the sale. It seems counterintuitive to apply Rule 15(c)'s relation-back doctrine in a way that causes any claim, including a deficiency claim, to relate back to a date <u>earlier</u> than the date on which the claim accrued. Indeed, a claim does not truly exist before it accrues. Had Idaho First Bank asserted a deficiency claim when it filed the prior complaints that claim would have been subject to dismissal because it had not yet accrued and, depending on the sale price ultimately obtained for the collateral, might never accrue.

A claim usually should not be related back to a pleading filed before the claim accrued. An exception to this general rule applies "if the original pleading gave notice that the conduct, transaction, or occurrence is of a continuing nature." But that is not the case here. Idaho First Bank's original claims were not continuing in nature. They alleged the existence of one outstanding loan debt. A portion of that same debt remained outstanding after the sale of the deed-of-trust collateral enabled Idaho First Bank to bring a deficiency claim, but, again, that was not inevitable. The collateral could, at least in theory, have sold for a price high

enough to leave no deficiency. Consequently, Idaho First Bank's second amended complaint asserts a section 45-1512 deficiency claim that is a new claim, not a continuation of the original claims. Relation-back therefore is not appropriate.

Third, relation-back is inappropriate because the original and first amended complaints were filed in violation of I.C. §45-1503(1). Under that statute, the grantor of deed-of-trust collateral is ordinarily not subject to suit before the deed-of-trust collateral has been sold in accordance with Idaho's deeds-of-trust act, at which point a deficiency claim may be asserted under section 45-1512 if the sale proceeds do not exhaust the loan balance. Idaho First Bank filed its original and first amended complaints before selling the deed-of-trust collateral, in reliance on an unsound argument that doing so did not violate section 45-1503(1) because the deed-of-trust collateral supposedly was "substantially valueless" under I.C. §45-1503(2). As discussed in this decision's section III(B), the cottage was real property, not personal property. Idaho First Bank's "substantially valueless" argument wrongly presumed the opposite. Moreover, it wrongly presumed the leasehold interest had no value. That the deed-of-trust collateral was not "substantially valueless" is proved by the \$1,200,088 sale price it fetched.

In any event, because Idaho First Bank violated section 45-1503(1) by filing its prior complaints before selling the deed-of-trust collateral, it seems entirely inequitable for its belated claim under section 45-1512 to relate back to the prior complaints. Rule 15(c) "has its roots in the former federal equity practice." The Court sees no good reason to invoke a rule that is designed to do equity so as to allow Idaho First Bank's premature filing of suit in violation of one provision of Idaho's deeds-of-trust act to excuse its failure to satisfy the filing deadline set in another of the act's provisions.

For these reasons, the Bridges are entitled to summary judgment against Idaho First Bank's section 45-1502 claim.

(R, pp. 774-78 (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted).) The District Court also addressed and rejected IFB's attempt to re-characterize a cottage as personal property:

B. Idaho First Bank has no deficiency claim under I.C. § 28-9-615 because that statute is inapplicable when the collateral is real property.

... The Bridges seek summary judgment against Idaho First Bank's section 28-9-615 claim on the theory that its collateral was real property, which would mean that section 28-9-615, along with the rest of Article 9, is entirely

inapplicable. Idaho First Bank does not disagree that section 28-9-615 is inapplicable if the collateral was real property; in other words, it does not argue for applying of any of the exceptions to Article 9's inapplicability to interests in or liens on real property. Instead, it argues (rather meekly) that the cottage is personal property.

Once again, Idaho First Bank's collateral was (i) the Bridges' leasehold interest in the cottage site, and (ii) the cottage ultimately constructed there. As the Court will proceed to explain, these items of collateral are both real property.

Beginning with the leasehold interest, the Court notes that, under Idaho law, "real property" includes not only land itself but also "possessory rights to land." I.C. § 55-101(1). The Bridges' leasehold interest in the cottage site is a possessory right to land. Thus, the leasehold interest is real property. Idaho First Bank wastes no effort arguing to the contrary.

Turning to the cottage, the Court notes that, under Idaho law, "[t]hat which is affixed to land" also is real property. I.C. § 55-101(2). An article is affixed to land if it is (i) actually and constructively annexed to the land, (ii) appropriated to the use of that part of the land to which it is annexed, and (iii) the party annexing it to the land intended to make the article a permanent accession to the land. Idaho First Bank suggests that whether the cottage is "affixed to land" under this three-pronged test should not be determined before trial. But it offers no evidence to contest the Bridges' showing that the cottage is "affixed to land" under that test.

The Bridges' evidence shows that the cottage cost well in excess of \$1 million to build, is 5,000 square feet in size, is built on a cement foundation that is embedded in the ground, and was designed to match the slope, topography, size, and orientation of the leased property, as well as the surrounding environment and nearby Cottages. The Bridges' evidence also shows that they intended the cottage to be a permanent part of the leased property and that they constructed it without any contingency planning for its future removal from the leased property. This is exactly as one would expect of a home so costly and so large; structures of that nature are not generally built with an eye to relocating them to different real property in the future. The Bridges' evidence, considered by itself, satisfies the three-pronged test.

Idaho First Bank offers nothing to counterbalance it. At most, it renews its argument, made in the context of the Bridges' motion to dismiss its first amended complaint, that the cottage is personal property because it is defined as "Personal Property" in the Bridges' most recent lease of the cottage site. The cottage's

characterization for purposes of the current lease is insignificant. There is no reason the cottage could not be characterized as "Personal Property" for purposes of the lease relationship between the Bridges and the Idaho Department of Lands yet constitute real property as a matter of Idaho law for purposes of the loan relationship between the Bridges and Idaho First Bank.

Indeed, the Construction Deed of Trust includes "buildings" in its definitions of the terms "Real Property" and "Improvements" but does not include "buildings" in the definition of the term "Personal Property." The cottage surely is a "building" under that term's ordinary meaning, making it "Real Property" for purposes of the Construction Deed of Trust. Thus, the terms of the Construction Deed of Trust are powerful evidence that, at the time it contracted with the Bridges, Idaho First Bank regarded the to-be-constructed cottage as real property rather than personal property.

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